and of

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE JUN 18 1997

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By
Criter Deputy Cicrk

v.

Case No. 90,516

Joseph Sal Mancino,
a/k/a JOSEPH SAL MAKINO
a/k/a PAUL NICOLINO RENO
a/k/a PAUL NICHOLAS CHRISTO
a/k/a PAUL DELUCCA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 175130
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS , , ,	
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	
ARGUMENT	
ISSUE I	
DOES THE DEFINITION OF AN "ILLEGAL SENTENCE" IN DAVIS V. STATE, 661 SO. 2D 1193, 1196 (FLA. 1995) AND CALLAWAY V. STATE, 658 SO. 2D 983, 988 (FLA. 1995) APPLY TO MOTIONS FILED UNDER RULE 3.800 REQUESTING CREDIT FOR JAIL TIME PREVIOUSLY SERVED SO THAT SUCH MOTIONS MAY NOT BE RAISED WHERE THE SENTENCE WOULD NOT EXCEED THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE ALLOWED BY LAW?,	
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

PAGE NO.
Berry v. State, 684 So. 2d 239 (Fla. lstDCA1996) , . ,
<u>CALLAWAY V. STATE</u> , 658 SO. 2D 983, 988 (FLA. 1995)
<u>Chaney v. State</u> , 678 So. 2d 880, <u>id.</u> at D1038
<pre>Davenport v. State, 664 So. 2d 323 (Fla. St. DCA 1995, rev. den. 665 So. 2d 120, distinguishing Daniels v. State, 491 so. 2d 543 (Fla. 1986)</pre>
<u>Davis_v_State_</u> , 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995) ,
<u>Gonzalez v. State</u> , 678 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) 6
<pre>Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) review denied; 613 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1992)</pre>
<pre>Mancino v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1087 (Fla. 2d DCA April 25, 1997), 2</pre>
<pre>State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995)</pre>
<u>Sullivan v. State</u> , 674 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)
<u>Swyck v. State</u> 22 Fla. L. Weekly D797 (Fla. 2d DCA March 26, 1997) appeal <u>pending</u> <u>State v. Swyck</u> , No. 90,358 2,3,6
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Fla. Stat. 924.051
Fla. R. Cram. Pro. 3.800(a)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 17, 1984, Appellee, Joseph Sal Mancino, entered pleas of no contest and was sentenced as follows in the following two cases:

- 82-07302: Count: Burglary (of a structure, F3): 4 years FSP Count 2: Dealing in Stolen Property (F2):4 years FSP, concurrent with Count 1; credit for 278 time served in county jail prior to sentencing.
- 83-06651: Count 1: Armed burglary(1PBL): 4 years FSP with a 3 year minimum mandatory for use of a firearm.

 Count 2: Possession of Burglary tools (F3): 4 years FSP concurrent with count 1.

 Count 3: Grand Theft (F3): 4 year FSP concurrent with Count 1; credit for 266 days served in county jail prior to sentencing; all sentences to run concurrent with case 82-07302

(See Exhibit 1 of of trial court's Order Denying Motion For An Order Awarding County Jail Credit.)

Appellee took no direct appeal from his judgment and sentences. In December of 1996 (more than 12 years after appellee's judgement and sentence were entered and became final), he filed a 'Motion For an Order Awarding County Jail Credit Pursuant to Rule 3.800(a)". (See Appellee's motion in record on appeal). Appellee sought credit for time served (a) in the county jails subsequent to the date of his judgment and sentence in both the Pinellas County Jail and the Palm Beach County Jail where he was transferred to answer separate charges; (b) in the Mercer County Detention Center in New Jersey, where the appellee was held on a Florida capias after his parole from imprisonment in that state (Appellee escaped

from custody while in transit from Palm Beach county to the Florida state prison in 1984 was apparently arrested in New Jersey in 1985 for offenses in that state); and (c) for proper credit for both 278 days and 266 days for time spent in county jail for prior to sentencing for allegedly separate arrests and separate times in cases 82-07303 and 83-04651. (See appellee's motion and attached exhibits in record on appeal).

The trial court, without holding an evidentiary hearing and based upon the court's consideration of the motion and the court file and records, entered an "Order Denying Motion For An Order Awarding County Jail Credit* on January 21, 1997. The trial court made the following findings:

Defendant's motion makes factual allegation regarding jail time credit. Such motions are properly filed under Rule 3.850. Fla. Stat. 924.051. However, Defendant's motion is untimely because it was filed more than two years after the defendant's judgment and sentence became final. (Exhibit 1). (citation omitted)

(See trial court's order in record on appeal)

Appellee filed a timely notice of appeal (See Notice of Appeal in record on appeal). The Second District Court of Appeals in Mancino v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1087 (Fla. 2d DCA April 25, 1997), reversed and remanded the case to the trial court to consider the merits of appellee's claim for relief. The district court of appeal relied upon the case of Swyckev. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D797 (Fla. 2d DCA March 26, 1997) appeal pending State v.

Swyck No, 90,358, and held that, "We have consistently held that rule 3.800 is a proper vehicle for raising a credit time issue where jail credit can be determined from the court records." Id. The district court certified conflict with perry v. State, 684 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Sullivan v. State, 674 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); and Chaney v. State, 678 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). Id. at D1038. The State of Florida filed a timely notice of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This court should resolve the conflict of opinions by upholding the decisions of the First, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal which have held that the failure to give proper credit for county jail time served cannot be raised in a post-conviction action pursuant to Fla. R. Cram. Pro. 3.800(a) unless the defendant alleges that the denial of such credit will result in him serving a sentence which exceeds the statutory maximum for the offense.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

DOES THE DEFINITION OF AN "ILLEGAL SENTENCE" IN <u>DAVIS V. STATE</u>, 661 SO. 2D 1193, 1196 (FLA. 1995) AND <u>CALLAWAY V. STATE</u> 658 SO. 2D 983, 988 (FLA. 1995) APPLY TO MOTIONS FILED UNDER RULE 3.800 REQUESTING CREDIT FOR JAIL TIME PREVIOUSLY SERVED SO THAT SUCH MOTIONS MAY NOT BE RAISED WHERE THE SENTENCE WOULD NOT EXCEED THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE ALLOWED BY LAW?.

The First district Court of Appeals in Berry v. State, 684 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), The Fourth District Court of Appeals in Sullivan v. State, 674 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) and the Fifth District Court of Appeals in Chaney v. State, 678 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) have ruled that the failure of the trial court to award proper credit for time served in jail cannot be raised in a motion filed pursuant to Fla. R. Cram. Pro. 3.800(a) unless the defendant alleges that the denial of such credit causes him to be sentenced to period in excess of the statutory maximum for his offense. These appellate courts have relied upon this Court's statements in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 1995), ("..an illegal sentence is one that exceeds the maximum period set, forth by law for a particular offense without regard to the guidelines.") and State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995) ("We recently explained that an illegal sentence is one that exceeds the maximum period set forth by law for a particular offense without regard to the guidelines." in reaching their legal conclusion.

The Second District Court of Appeals in the instant case, as well as in <u>Swvck v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 797 (Fla. 2d DCA March 26, 1997), rev. pending <u>State v. Swvck</u>, No. 90,358, and the Third District in <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 678 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), have ruled that such requests for credit for time served can be made under rule 3.800(a). Contrary to the reasoning of the First, Fourth and Fifth Districts, the Second and Third District have held that such relief pursuant to rule 3.800(a) would be available even if the failure to give such credit does <u>not</u> result in the defendant being sentenced to a period in excess of the statutory maximum for the offense.

Petitioner submits that this Court should resolve this conflict in favor of the legal analysis as set forth by the First, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal.

Respondent was convicted in 1984 in case 82-07302 for the offenses of Burglary (a third degree felony - maximum punishment 5 years) and Dealing in Stolen Property (a second degree felony - maximum punishment 15 years) and in case 83-04651 of the offenses of Armed Burglary (a first degree felony punishable by life), Possession of burglary Tools (a third degree felony - maximum punishment 5 years) and grand theft (a third degree felony - maximum penalty grand theft). Respondent received a sentence of 4 years imprisonment on each charge to run concurrently). Respondent has received credit for the 266 to which the trial court stated that he

was entitled to in its sentencing documents in case 83-04651. Respondents acknowledges this fact in his motion for additional credit (See Motion For an Order Awarding County Jail Credit Pursuant to Rule 3.800(a) at p. 7 in record on appeal). Since all of the sentences are for the same period of time (4 years) the longest sentence respondent must serve is the 4 year sentence for armed burglary which contains the 3 year minimum mandatory sentence (to which no statutory gain time applies). This is the sentence to which the Department of Corrections looked to determine respondent's release date. As respondent, himself, states his tentative release date is with credit for time served of 266 days and statutory gain time applied to the remaining year is February 19, 1999 (See respondent's motion at p. 7 and respondents exhibit 13).

Respondent is not entitled to credit 278 spent in county jail awarded in case 82-07302 toward his sentence in case 83-04651 in addition to the 266 days he received in that case (83-04651). Respondent, himself, admits that the 278 days and the 266 days he served in the county jail prior to sentencing were separate and distinct periods of incarceration for each case, (See respondent's motion at p. 4). Respondent is **not** entitled to add both credits together so as to be entitled to 544 days (278 + 266) in both cases. Davenport v. State, 664 So. 2d 323 (Fla. St. DCA 1995, rev. den. 665 So. 2d 120, distinguishing Daniels v. State, 491 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1986).

Assuming without conceding, that respondent is entitled to credit for post-sentence county jail credit of 61 days in Florida and 61 days credit for time spent in the Mercer County jail of the Florida capias for a total of 122 days, the failure to give such credit will not result in the respondent serving a sentence greater than the statutory maximum of life imprisonment (armed burglary), or for 15 years (dealing in stolen property) or for 5 years (possession of burglary tools and grand theft).

As this Court reasoned in Callaway, supra. at 987-988:

In Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) review denied, 613 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1992), the court recognized that there are three types of sentencing errors: (1) an "erroneous sentence" which is correctable on direct appeal; (2) an "unlawful sentence" which is correctable only after an evidentiary hearing under rule 3.850; and (3) an "illegal sentence" in which the error must be corrected as a matter of law in a rule 3.800 proceeding. Id. at 76, 77 & n. 1. We explained recently that an illegal sentence is one that exceeds the maximum period set forth by law for a particular offense without regard to the guidelines. Davis v. State...

The undersigned has been informed by the Department of Corrections that the respondent was given credit for 278 days county jail time for the offenses in case 82-07302 and has, in fact, completed service of his 4 year sentences in that case as of June 8, 1997. The Department further advises that respondent received 266 days county jail credit for all offenses in case 83-04651 and that with accrued statutory gain time respondent has a tentative release date of June 19, 1998 (he can still earn additional statutory gain time) on the 4 year sentence with the three year minimum mandatory (armed burglary) and will complete his other 4 year sentences (without minuum mandatory possession of burglary tools and grand theft) on June 20, 1997.

Petitioner submits that although the respondent may entitled to credit for time served in Florida county jails after sentencing (Pinellas and Palm Beach County) and in Mercer County, New Jersey (on the Florida capias), the proper legal procedure was to either raise the issue in a post-conviction action under rule 3.850 (which respondent could not do because the 2 year period of limitation had run) or as the Fourth District not in Sullivan v. Stat-e, 674 So. 2d at 215 n.1, 'if the defendant is beyond the time period for Rule 3.850 relief and the sentence has been served but for the improper jail time credit, a petition for writ of habeas corpus would offer relief.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, Appellee respectfully requests that Appellant's convictions and sentences be affirmed.