#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SUD J. WHITE

JULY 7 1997

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

v.

Case No. 90,516 het Deputy Clerk

JOSEPH SAL MANCINO,
aka Joseph Sal Mancino,
aka Paul Nicholas Reno,
aka Paul Nicholas Christo,
aka Paul Delucca,
Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOSEPH SAL MANCINO, PRO SE

DC#165264 (E2-121S)

Apalachee Correctional Institution
P.O. Box 699-West Unit
Sneads, Florids 32460

Joseph Sal Mancino, <u>pro se</u> on the Brief

# TABLE OF CASES

PAGE(S)
<pre>Becton v. State, 668 so. 2d 1107 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1996)</pre>

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

Sixty-one (61) days after sentencing on February 17th, 1984, respondent escaped custody. Respondent immediately left the jurisdiction of Florida to reside in Phoenix, Arizona, where, on April 21st, 1985, respondent was arrested by federal authorities pursuant to a 1978 New Jersey criminal warrant. Respondent signed a waiver of extradition fqr the New Jersey detainer and consequently returned to New Jersey on May 5th, 1985. Respondent was then tried, convicted, and sentenced to an aggregate term of twenty-five (25) years imprisonment. Respondent served approximately twelve (12) years before being paroled on January 11th, 1996, to a 1984 Florida capias warrant. While

incarcerated in New Jersey, respondent was unable to ascertain, despite the exercise of due diligence, any facts, case numbers, procedural mechanisms, or case law necessary to prosecute either a direct appeal or postconviction collateral attack challenging <u>any</u> aspect of the judgments of conviction rendered on case numbers 82-07302 and 83-04651. Respondent was received into the Florida Department of Corrections on March 12th, 1996.

Approximately nine (9) months after respondent studied the applicable Florida laws and procedures, he filed a Rule 3.800(a) seeking an order crediting him with all pre-sentence and post-sentence county jail time accrued against case numbers 82-07302 and 83-04651. (See Record on Appeal). Said motion was denied on January 21st, 1997. Respondent timely filed a notice of appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal on January 21st, 1997. The Second DCA reversed the trial court's denial order and remanded the case back to the lower court "to consider the merits of Mancino's motion." See Mancino v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1037 (Fla. 2d DCA April 25th, 1997). The Second District Court of Appeal certified conflict with other district courts of appeal. The State of Florida thus timely filed a "Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction" of this Honorable Court on April 30th, 1997. This appeal, brought by the State of Florida, thus follows.

In all other respects respondent relies on the "Statement of the Case" and the "Statement of the Facts" set forth in his "Motion for an Order Awarding County Jail Credit Pursuant to Rule 3.800(a)" which underlies this appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT(S)

#### ISSUE ONE:

At least as far back as the decision of the Second District Court of Appeals in Osteen v. State, 406 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1981), the courts of this State have recognized that a "motion for correction of sentence" is a proper vehicle to challenge "most errors in jail credit[] determinable from records readily available to the Court[.]" See Brown v. State, 633 So. 2d 112, 116 n. 2 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1994) (Altenbernd, J., dissenting), citing Thomas v. State, 611 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Thus, jail credit issues not involving questions of fact which are necessarily determined via an evidentiary hearing, can be addressed under Rule 3.800(a) without running afoul of the Florida Supreme Court's holdings in Davis v. State, 661 so. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995) and State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995). This is so because jail credit is statutorily provided for as "a result of the 1973 legislative amendment of 921.161(4), Florida Statutes (1973)."

#### ISSUE TWO:

Since section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes (1979), provides that a 'court imposing a sentence shall allow a defendant credit for all of the time he spent in the county jail before [the date said] sentence" is imposed, respondent is statutorily entitled to receive credit for an aggregate 544 days he actually "spent in the county jail" prior to his sentencing on February 17th, 1984. Because respondent's five (5) concurrent four-year sentences were imposed on the same date and run for the same length of time, the 544 days (266+278) respondent actually spent in the county jail prior to sentencing is plainly consistent with this Court's holding in Daniels v.

State, 491 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1986), "that when, pursuant to section 921.161(1), a defendant receives pre-sentence jail-time credit on a sentence that is to run concurrently with other sentences, those sentences must also reflect the credit for time served." Id. at 545. (emphasis in original).

#### ISSUE THREE:

The Florida Supreme Court is vested with the power under Article Five, Section 3(b)(7) of the Florida Constitution to issue a writ directing the trial court to proceed with respondent's Rule 3.800(a) motion underlying this appeal (which was properly sworn) as if it was filed pursuant to Rule 3.850(b). In the alternative, this Court can issue a writ awarding all jail credit it deems proper based on the record before it on appeal. Respondent will argue that the interests of justice merit the issuance of this Court's extraordinary writ because, in the case at bar, respondent would have been released over two (2) months ago had the court made the proper jail credit determination and, more importantly, any further delays in litigation in this matter would be to the detriment of respondent's personal liberty.

#### MEMORANDUM OF LAW

#### ISSUE ONE:

FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.800(a) HAS LONG BEEN RECOGNIZED AS A PROPER PROCEDURAL MECHANISM FOR CHALLENGING "ERRORS IN JAIL CREDIT[] DETERMINABLE FROM RECORDS READILY AVAILABLE TO THE COURT." BROWN V. STATE, 633 SO. 2D 112, 116 n.2 (FLA. APP. 2 DIST. 1994) (ALTENBERND, J., DISSENTING).

After this Court's decisions on July 20th, 1995, in State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995) and Davis State, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995), the First, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have held, as petitioner avers, that "the failure to give proper credit for county jail time served cannot be raised in a post-conviction action pursuant to Fla. R. Cram. [sic] Pro. 3.800(a) unless the defendant [makes a showing] that the denial of such credit will result in [the movant] serving a sentence which exceeds the statutory maximum for the offense." (Petitioner Merit Brief, at p. 4). See also Berry v. State, 684 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Sullivan v. State, 674 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Chaney v. State, 678 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). However, the Second and Third District Courts of Appeal have conversely held that "the failure to award appropriate [jail] credit time is an illegal sentence which may be corrected at any time." Knox v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly 1079 (Fla. 3rd District April 30th, 1997). See generally Becton v. State, 668 So, 2d 1107 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1996); Hopping v. State, 650 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995); Thomas v. State, 611 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

But it is significant to note that the First, Fourth, and Fifth Districts have held prior to <u>Davis</u> and <u>Callaway</u> that jail credit issues are statutorily guaranteed and a sentence is illegal if it does not reflect properly calculated pre-sentence county jail credit. <u>Moorer v. State</u>, 556 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st 1/ In fact, the <u>Sullivan</u> court certified the following question (which, if answered, would make the instant appeal moot) to this Honorable Court on June 5th, 1996:

DOES STATE V. DAVIS, 661 SO. 2D 1193 (FLA. 1995), APPLY TO MOTIONS FILED UNDER RULE 3.800 REQUESTING JAIL CREDIT SO THAT SUCH MOTIONS MAY NOT BE RAISED WHERE THE SENTENCE WOULD NOT EXCEED THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE ALLOWED BY LAW?

DCA 1990) ("a sentence which does not allow for proper credit is an <a href="mailto:illegal">illegal</a>
sentence"); <a href="mailto:Morgan v. State">Morgan v. State</a>, 557 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); <a href="Martin v. State">Martin v. Martin v. State</a>, 525 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (en banc) ("a sentence is <a href="mailto:illegal">illegal</a> if it fails to allow a defendant credit on all time spent sentences for all time spent in the county jail before sentencing. Consequently, the matter is one which may be raised at <a href="mailto:any time">any time</a> pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a)"); <a href="mailto:Thomas v. State">Thomas v. State</a>, 667 So. 2d 441 (Fla. App. 4 Dist. 1996) ("it is well settled that jail time and prison credit issues may be raised pursuant to rule 3.800(a)..."); See also <a href="mailto:Miller v. State">Miller v. State</a>, 297 So. 2d 36, 38 (Fla. App. 1 Dist. 1974) ("adopt[ing] the procedure for applying [921.161(1)] in the First District"); <a href="mailto:Kronz v. State">Kronz v. State</a>, 462 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1985) (foreign jail credit while defendant is held on 'Florida charge, detainer, or warrant" is squarely within discretion of trial court); <a href="mailto:Schmidt v. State">Schmidt v. State</a>, 530 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. App. 1 Dist. 1988).

It is important to analyze the provenance of this Court's holdings in Davis and Callaway which have caused the various district courts to interpret R. 3.800(a) only applies to attack a sentence exceeding the statutory. that In Callaway, this Court cited to the (en banc) Second District maximum. Court of Appeal's definition of "three different types of sentencing errors: (1) an 'erroneous sentence' which is correctable on direct appeal; (2) an 'unlawful sentence' which is correctable only after an evidentiary hearing under rule 3.850; (3) an 'illegal sentence' which the error must be corrected as a matter of law in a rule 3.800 proceeding." Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (Ren banc) review desired 613 Soc. 2d atD1198a v i s v. State, 661 So. 2d at 1198 (Shaw, J., dissenting) ("an illegal sentence imposed by the [court] means just what it says: a sentence that is in clear violation of established law at the time it was imposed"). (internal quotatmarks omitted). However, Judge Altenbernd noted, writing for the full

court in the "Opinion on Rehearing En Banc," that:

It might be helpful if lawyers and judges referred to sentencing errors that are correctable only on direct appeal as "erroneous sentences." Likewise, sentencing errors that are correctable only after an evidentiary hearing under rule 3.850 would be "unlawful sentences." This would reserve the term "illegal sentence" for use only under circumstances in which the error must be corrected as a matter of law, even in a rule 3.800 proceeding. We admit, however, that this precision would be difficult, even for this court to obey consistently. It is perhaps enough if lawyers and judges keep in mind that these distinctions do exist for good jurisprudential reasons and may affect the relief available at various stages postconviction.

Judge, 596 So. 2d at 76-77 (emphasis added).

In <u>Davis</u>, the court merely found that "the failure to file written findings for a departure [does not] constitute[] an illegal sentence. Only if [said] sentence exceeds the maximum allowed by law would the sentence be illegal." Davis v. State, 661 So. 2d at 1196. In Callaway, this Court recognized that "[a] rule 3.800(a) motion can be filed at any time...and as such, its subject matter is limited to those sentencing issues that can be resolved as a matter of law without an evidentiary hearing." Callaway, 658 so. 2d at 968. Because the Callaway case dealt with factual issues, the "resolution of [which would] require an evidentiary determination and thus should be dealt with under rule 3.850 which specifically provides for an evidentiary hearing[,] " its holding is not applicable to a case involving jail credit issues "determinable from records readily available to the court" because such a case solely requires the resolution of legal issues. e.g., Thomas v. State, 611 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); Becton v. State, 668 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1996); <u>Martin, **v.** State</u>, 525 So. 2d 901, 902 (Fla. App. 5 Dist. 1987) (en banc). In short, this Court only addressed the viability of R.3.800(a) to the facts specifically presented to the Court by Davis and Callawap.

Based on the foregoing brief analysis, respondent respectfully submits that the decisions this Court rendered in <u>Davis</u> and <u>Callaway</u> do not diminish the scope of review under <u>R</u>. 3.800(a) to the extent that issues of law involving county jail credit are now procedurally barred under said rule. See, e.g., <u>Zygadlo v. State</u>, 681 So. 2d 309 (Fla. App. 5 Dist. 1996). Stated another way, <u>Davis</u> and <u>Callaway</u> only recognize that issues necessitating an evidentiary hearing to resolve factual disputes are better addressed in a rule 3.850 proceeding. Callaway, at 988.

In the case at bar, respondent's rule 3.800(a) motion plainly declares that the issues presented can be determined both from (1) the court's own records, (See respondent's R.3.800(a) motion at p. 11, et al., citing Thomas v. State, 611 So. 2d 600 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1993) and Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)); and (2) the official documentation supplied by the respondent in his twenty-one (21) exhibit appendix accompanying the R. 3.800(a) motion underlying this appeal. See, e.g., Payne v. Circuit Court for 15th Judicial Circuit, 439 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. App. 4 Dist. 1983); Osteen v. State, 406 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1981). In fact, the petitioner seems to concede the bona fides of both the pre-sentence credit, 2 and the 122 days post-sentence credit applied for by way of the respondent's 3.800(a) motion <u>sub</u> judice. (Petitioner's Merit Brief, pp. 8,9). Thus, no factual matters are disputed in the case at bar. Consequently, the specified periods of confinement and the amount of days implicated by respondent's R. 3.800(a) motion are not matters requiring resolution by way of an evidentiary hearing. Too, petitioner does not contest these factual issues, but instead argues either that R. 3.800(a) is not the proper procedural mechanism to challenge jail credit issues in light of Davis and Callaway, or, that "[r]espondent is

**<sup>2/</sup>** It is important to clarify that the state still argues the legal issue relevant to how the pre-sentence credit should be calculated **vis-a-vis** respondent's concurrent sentences. (See Petitioner's Merit Brief, **p.** 7).

not entitled to add both credits together so as to be entitled to 544 days (278+266)" pre-sentence county jail credit under 921.161(1), Florida (1983). (Petitioner's Merit Brief, p. 7).

Thus, respondent respectfully submits that the use of R. 3.800(a) to resolve jail credit issues "determinable from records readily available to the court," Thomas, 611 So. 2d 601, is consistent with this "Court's... determination that, as a result of...section [921.161(1)], a sentence is illegal if it fails to allow credit... for all of the time spent in the county jail before sentencing." Martin v. State, 525 So. 2d at 902 (en banc, citing Daniels v. State, 491 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1986)). Accordingly, respondent's application for jail credit via R. 3.800(a) was properly filed and is plainly concordant with this Court's decisions of July 20th, 1995, in Davis and Callaway. Any other interpretation of Davis and Callaway, clearly misses the mark.

Wherefore, for the foregoing reasons and points of law, this Honorable Court should not disturb the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in <a href="Mancino v. State">Mancino v. State</a>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1087 (Fla. 2d DCA April 25th, 1997).

### ISSUE TWO:

PRE-SENTENCE JAIL TIME CREDIT PURSUANT TO SECTION 921.161(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, WHICH (1) COMPREHENDS A TOTAL OF 544 DAYS SPENT IN COUNTY JAIL PRIOR TO IMPOSITION OF AN AGGREGATE/CONTROLLING SENTENCE OF FOUR (4) YEARS (W/THREE-YEAR MANDATORY); AND, (2) RESPRESENTS "ACTUAL" (DESPITE TWO DIFFERENT OFFENSE DATES) PRE-SENTENCE INCARCERATION PERIODS, IS A JUST AND PROPER AWARD DISTINGUISHABLE FROM AN IMPROPERLY SOUGHT AWARD OF "PYRAMIDED" JAIL TIME CREDIT.

This Court, in <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 491 So. 2d 543 (Fla. **1986)**, held that "when, pursuant to section **921.161(1)**, a defendant receives pre-sentence **jail**-time credit on a sentence that is to run <u>concurrently</u> with other sentences, those sentences must also reflect the credit for <u>time served</u>." Id. at 545. (emphasis added). As Judge Cobb noted, writing for the full court in <u>Martin</u> v. State, 525 So. 2d 901 (Fla. App. 5 **Dist.** 1987):

Clearly implicit in the Florida Supreme Court's opinion in <a href="Daniels">Daniels</a>[,] is the determination that, as a result of the 1973 legislative amendment of section 921.161(4), Florida Statutes (1973), a sentence is <a href="illegal">illegal</a> if it fails to allow a defendant credit on <a href="all concurrent">all concurrent</a> sentences for all of the <a href="time">time</a> spent <a href="time">in</a> the <a href="county">the</a> matter is one which may be raised <a href="at any time">at pursuant</a> to Florida Rule of Criminal <a href="Procedure 3.800(a)">Procedure 3.800(a)</a>.

Id. at 902. (emphasis added, internal citation omitted).

However, respondent recognizes the fine distinction this Court made in <a href="Daniels">Daniels</a>, "distinguish[ing">ing</a> that case] from one in which the defendant does not receive concurrent sentences on multiple charges: in. such a case the defendant is not entitled to have his jail time credit pyramided by being given credit on each sentence for the full time he spends in jail awaiting disposition." <a href="Daniels">Daniels</a>, at 545 (citing Martin v. State, 452 So. 2d 938, 938-939 (quoting Miller v. State, 297 So. 2d 36, 38 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974))). As the First District Court of Appeal, analyzing Harris v. State, 483 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), noted, a defendant is "only entitled to receive credit

for the time\_actually served in jail prior to trial for the charge being sentenced for.... Whitney v. State, 493 So. 2d 1077, 1078 (Fla. App. 1 1986), citing Harris, at 113. (emphasis in original).

The case at bar is unique,, however, for the following reasons. One, respondent "actually served" 544 days prior to sentence against two (2) of the five (5) concurrent four (4) year sentences, with the sentence on Count 1 of case number 83-04651 (4 years w/3 year mandatory minimum pursuant to F.S. 775.087(2)) being the controlling sentence. Stated another way, four (4) of respondent's five (5) concurrent sentences imposed on February 17th, 1984, are subsumed by the four (4) year (w/3) mandatory) sentence on Count 1 of case number 83-04651. Three, respondent received five (5) four (4) year sentences which begin on the same date and run for the exact length of time (notwithstanding the three-year mandatory). Moreover, on case number 82-07302, respondent's claim doesn't involve "pyramided" time of the type excepted by Daniels and Martin v. State, 452 So. 2d 938, 938-939 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1984), but instead deals with the trial court's failure to correctly allow for the full period of incarceration respondent spent in the county jail prior to sentencing. Accordingly, as this Court enunciated in Daniels, "the legislature amended section 921.161(1) to provide that the court <u>must</u> allow a defendant credit for all of the time spent in the county jail before Daniels, at 544-45. (emphasis in original). Thus, neglecting sentencing." to correctly award such jail credit "is illegal" if it fails to comprehend "credit on all concurrent sentences for all the time spent in the county jail before sentencing. Consequently, the matter is one which may be raised at Martin v. State, 525 So. 2d any time pursuant to [Fla. R. Cr. P.] 3.800(a)." 1/ Respondent accrued 278 days in the county jail on 82-07302 representing a period of incarceration in the Old Downtown Clearwater, Florida, jail between 1982 and 1983. Respondent was released ROR on that case but was then in early 1983 whereupon his ROR re-arrested on case number 83-04651 was revoked as to case number 82-07302, and another 266 days accrued on both case numbers 82-07302 and 83-04651 before sentencing on 4/17/84. be noted that petitioner recognizes the correct amounts of jail time and the separate offense dates. But absent is reference to the 544 days accrued against 82-07302 before sentencing on February 17th, 1984.

at p. 902. (emphasis added).

Finally, since the proper jail credit award in this matter, 400 days (278+122), would result in the release of the respondent forthwith, he respectfully prays that this Honorable Court take judicial notice of the urgency of this matter and the liberty interests involved. Respondent reiterates that he is only requesting such time as he actually spent in the county jail before sentencing.

Wherefore, based on the foregoing, respondent respectfully requests this Court to issue such relief as it deems proper and necessary to resolve the issues presented herein.

## ISSUE THREE:

WHERE A "SENTENCING ERROR [SUCH AS AN ERROR IN JAIL CREDIT] REQUIRE[S] A DEFENDANT TO BE INCARCERATED OR RESTRAINED FOR A GREATER LENGTH OF TIME IN THE ABSENCE OF [SAID] ERROR, THAT ERROR IS FUNDMENTAL AND ENDURES AND [THE MOVANT] IS ENTITLED RELIEF IN ANY AND EVERY LEGAL MANNER POSSIBLE." HAYES V. STATE, 598 so. 2D 135 (FLA. APP. 5 DIST. 1992).

The courts of this state have long recognized that <u>pro se</u> motions should be treated "as if the proper remedy was sought." <u>Brown v. State</u>, 664 So. 2d 311, 312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). Thus, it is well established that "[t]he courts have the authority to treat prisoner petitions as if the proper remedy were sought if it would be in the interest of justice to do so." <u>Brown</u>, at 312, citing <u>Hall v. State</u>, 643 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). <u>See also Dublin v. State</u>, 681 So. 2d 865 (Fla. App. 5 Dist 1996).

In the case at bar, respondent filed a Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence pursuant to <u>Fla</u>. <u>R.Cr</u>. <u>P</u>. 3.800(a) involving jail credit on December 11th, 1996. On January 21st, 1997, the trial court denied the aforesaid motion by reasoning as follows:

Defendant's motion makes factual allegation regarding jail time credit. Such motions are properly filed under Rule 3.850. Fla. Stat. 924.051. However, Defendant's motion is untimely because it was filed more than two years after the defendant's judgment and sentence became final.

(See Order attached to respondent's Notice of Appeal to the 2d DCA).

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